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We consider whether the charges submitted by Local Union 3000 member John 

Stevens against Andra Gatlin, Jeff Brown, and Marie Clark satisfied the requirements of 
Article 31, §3 of the International Constitution. 

 
FACTS 

 
On July 17, 2017, Local 3000 member John Stevens submitted charges against 

Andra Gatlin, Jeff Brown, and Marie Clark pursuant to Article 31 of the UAW 
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Constitution.  Stevens asserted that Marie Clark and Jeff Brown filed an election protest 
to the membership at a meeting on June 20, 2017, that misrepresented the contents of 
his criminal record posted on the Michigan Department of Corrections (MDOC) website.  
Stevens’s charge states: 

 
“At the June 20, 2017 membership meeting, Brother Jeff Brown presented 
another appeal of the UAW Local 3000 June 5 & 6 election which included 
a report from MDOC of my criminal record.  As required, Sister Montina 
Tillman read the appeal to the membership at the meeting.  In the appeal, 
statements of my criminal record were fabricated with false assumptions 
that I received and served a prison sentence of 2 years.  Included in this 
appeal was a photocopy of a text message from Sister Marie Clark 
promoting a website to investigate me?  At the June 20, 2017 membership 
meeting, Sister Marie Clark made a motion to accept the appeal, but there 
was no second.”1 

In addition, Stevens reported that Jeff Brown and Andra Gatlin included this information 
in an appeal they filed to the International Executive Board (IEB) from a decision of the 
Local 3000 Executive Board rejecting charges they had filed against Stevens. 
 

As a basis for his charge, Stevens cited the following language in Paragraph 1 of 
the Democratic Practices section of the UAW Ethical Practices Codes: 

 
“…Each member shall have the right freely to criticize the policies and 
personalities of Union officials; however, this does not include the right to 
undermine the Union as an institution; to vilify other members of the Union 
and its elected officials …”2 

In addition, Stevens cited Article 11, Section 15 of the local union bylaws which states: 
 

“No member of this Local Union shall circulate or cause to be circulated 
false propaganda against any member or candidate for Local Union office, 
or to direct propaganda against any candidate because of race, sex, color, 
nationality, religious or political affiliation.”3 

Stevens charged that Andra Gatlin, Jeff Brown, and Marie Clark were guilty of violating 
these provisions.  His charge states: 
 

                                                 
1
 Record, p. 67. 

2
 Record, p. 68. 

3
 Record, p. 60. 
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“Therefore:  Under the provisions afforded me by Article 31 of the UAW 
Constitution, I hereby charge Brother Andra Gatlin, Brother Jeff Brown, 
and Sister Marie Clark, of the following violations: 

1.  A violation of the UAW Constitution Ethical Practices Code for 
falsely reporting my criminal record. 

 
2.  A violation of the Local 3000 bylaws [for] circulating false 

information through their appeal.”4 
 

Local Union President Steve Gonzales filed the following statement in support of 
Stevens’s charge: 

 
“I am writing on behalf of brother John Stevens in support of his charge 
against Jeff Brown, Andra Gatlin, and Marie Clark. 

I am aware of their attempt to vilify and go above and beyond to smear 
and humiliate Brother Stevens’s good name. 

The evidence will show that they conspired to make Brother John’s past 
history look worse than it was. 

They claimed more than once that Brother John did a prison term.  That is 
totally false.  They can’t claim it was a mistake because of the evidence 
they provided claims all he did was probation!  Marie Clark presented a 
text message stating that she looked up Brother John’s record.  Which 
would imply that she knew he had only served a probation.  Yet when the 
appeal was read stating the 2-year prison sentence, she motioned to 
accept the appeal knowing it was false.”5 

Stevens’s charges against Jeff Brown, Andra Gatlin, and Marie Clark came 
before the Local Union 3000 Executive Board on July 18, 2017.  The Executive Board 
found the charges to be proper under Article 31 of the Constitution.  The minutes of the 
Executive Board meeting state: 

 
“President Steve Gonzales read the Article 31 charges.  They were 
presented from Brother John Stevens against Brother Andra Gatlin, 
Brother Jeff Brown, and Sister Marie Clark.  President Steve Gonzales 
then told the Executive Board to reference the UAW Constitution Article 
31, Section 1-3 to deem if the charges were proper/improper.  The 
Executive Board then reviewed each point to see if they were valid. 

                                                 
4
 Record, p. 68. 

5
 Record, p. 71. 
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Motion to accept the charges by Brother Moe Elhady.  Seconded by Sister 
Sharon Harding.  Discussion was held.  The Executive reviewed all points 
made in the Article 31 charges and voted and the charges were deemed 
proper per the evidence provided.  (Sister Montina Tillman went to files to 
get prior charges from Brother Jeff Brown and Brother Andra Gatlin for 
review of the charges.)  Upon review the Executive Board deemed the 
charges valid. 

Motion by Brother Ed Schroeder to call for a vote on the charges. 

President Steve Gonzales asked all in favor to accept the charges and go 
to trial say aye.  (100% response).  All opposed say nay (no response).  
Motion passed.”6 

Local Union 3000 notified Gatlin, Brown, and Clark of the Executive Board’s ruling on 
Stevens’s charges against them on July 20, 2017. 
 

On August 10, 2017, Jeff Brown, Marie Clark, and Andra Gatlin appealed the 
Local 3000 Executive Board’s ruling on John Stevens’s charges against them to the 
IEB.  Appellants argued that Stevens’s charges should be rejected because they were 
submitted as a reprisal against them for their efforts to prevent an ineligible member 
from assuming an executive office.  In support of this argument appellants cited 29 USC 
481(e).  The appeal states: 

 
“Title 29 USC 481 (e) goes on to say that any member in good standing 
“…shall have the right to vote for or otherwise support the candidate or 
candidates of his choice, without being subject to penalty, discipline, or 
improper interference or reprisal of any kind by such organization or any 
member thereof.”7 

Appellants also maintained that John Stevens’s charge violated their right to engage in 
concerted activities for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid or 
protection as guaranteed by 29 USC 157.  The appeal states: 
 

“Very clearly our efforts to NOT SUPPORT the convicted ‘narcotics felon’ 
John Stevens in the 2017 triennial election at UAW Local Union 3000 – a 
person in violation of 29 USC Section 504 – are for the ‘mutual aid or 
protection’ of our great union and the United Auto Workers.”8 

Furthermore, appellants argued that Stevens’s claim that Marie Clark misrepresented 
his criminal record was demonstrably untrue.  The appeal states: 

                                                 
6
 Record, p. 76. 

7
 Record, p. 126. 

8
 Record, p. 127. 
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“Also, the charge of fabrication – when clearly only the Michigan State 
Police – Internet Criminal History Access Tool (ICHAT) – was used to 
reference John Stevens’s criminal record as a ‘narcotics felon.’  Thus, 
making the charges of fabrication of John Stevens’s criminal record 
frivolous and untrue.”9 

Appellants asked the IEB to find that the Article 31 charges against them are 
improper.10 
 

President Dennis Williams’s staff determined that a hearing was unnecessary on 
the appeal of Jeff Brown, Marie Clark, and Andra Gatlin.  Acting on the President’s 
behalf, staff prepared a report to the IEB on the appeal based on documents in the 
record.  Staff reviewed the criteria set forth in Article 31, §3 of the Constitution and 
determined that John Stevens’s charge satisfied all of those criteria.  Staff found that the 
charge was specific and timely within the meaning of Article 31, §3(a) and (b) of the 
Constitution.11  Staff observed that the charge of vilification did sustain a possible 
violation of the Constitution and was not an issue that could more properly be resolved 
by the membership at a membership meeting so the charge satisfied Article 31, §3(c) 
and (d) of the Constitution.12  Staff directed the local union to proceed to trial on the 
charges against Jeff Brown, Marie Clark, and Andra Gatlin.13  The IEB adopted staff’s 
report as its decision and notified the appellants on October 5, 2017. 

 
Jeff Brown, Marie Clark, and Andra Gatlin appealed the IEB’s decision to the 

Public Review Board (PRB) on October 7, 2017.14  On November 21, 2017, Local 3000 
sent a notice to the appellants that a trial committee would be selected on the charges 
against them at the next membership meeting scheduled for December 3, 2017.  On 
November 27, 2017, Jeff Brown sent a letter to Local Union 3000 objecting to the local 
union’s decision to go forward with the trial selection process while his appeal to the 
PRB was still pending.  Brown argued that this violated his right to due process.15  
Brown also sent an email to the PRB asking for a ruling on the procedural issue.16  The 
International Union submitted a statement on December 7, 2017, taking the position that 
the trial should proceed regardless of appellants’ appeal from the IEB’s decision on the 
propriety of the charges.17  On December 20, 2017, we issued an Order denying 

                                                 
9
 Record, p. 129. 

10
 Record, p. 131. 

11
 Record, pp. 162-163. 

12
 Record, pp. 163-164. 

13
 Record, p. 165. 

14
 Record, pp. 166-167. 

15
 Record, pp. 198-200. 

16
 Record, p. 202. 

17
 Record, pp. 206-207. 
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appellants motion to stay the trial proceedings pending resolution of their appeal.  In 
that Order, we observed that appellants would not suffer any irreparable injury as a 
result of the trial proceedings, because they are still entitled to review of the propriety of 
the charges against them.18 

 
Appellants’ appeal challenging the propriety of the charges against them came 

before us for initial consideration on January 19, 2018.  On January 22, 2018, we sent 
an inquiry to the International Union asking if the issues raised by appellants had been 
resolved by the trial procedure.19  On February 14, 2017, Marie Clark submitted an 
appeal renewing appellants’ request that the PRB apply the tests of Article 31, §3 to the 
charges against them and rule that they were improper for trial in accordance with that 
section.20  Clark reported that a trial was conducted on the charges against them and 
they were found guilty and sentenced to a loss of good standing in the local union for 10 
years.21  

 
We heard the parties in oral argument on April 14, 2018. 
 

ARGUMENT 
 

A. Marie Clark on behalf of appellants: 

We did not fabricate any information about John Stevens’s criminal record.  The 
information concerning John Stevens’s criminal record was taken from the Michigan 
Offender Tracking Information System (OTIS).  Following a dispute at a local union 
meeting regarding notice requirements, I went on line and looked up federal statutes 
applicable to local union elections in order to determine when notice of an election must 
be mailed.  I discovered federal laws governing who is eligible to run for local union 
office.  I learned that persons who have been convicted of certain violations are 
ineligible to serve as local union executive officers.  I wondered if anyone from Local 
Union 3000 had ever checked this.  I am familiar with the Michigan OTIS website, so I 
checked our local union officers to determine if any of them were ineligible under this 
rule.  I checked all of our candidates and discovered that John Stevens had been 
convicted of a narcotics offense.  

 
I was not certain what I should do with the information, so I sent it to my friend 

Darlene Harge and asked for advice.  Harge forwarded the information to Election 
Committee Chairperson Amber Zeitlow.  The election committee is not allowed to 
remove a candidate’s name from the ballot once nominations are closed.  John 
Stevens’s name remained on the ballot and he was elected.  Subsequently, the IEB 
confirmed that John Stevens is barred from holding union office as a result of his 

                                                 
18

 Record, pp. 219-220. 

19
 Record, pp. 264-265. 

20
 Record, pp. 266-280. 

21
 Record, p. 303. 
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criminal record.  He resigned on June 2.  The information about John Stevens’s criminal 
record was not false.  There is no evidence that anyone circulated this information.  My 
Facebook post describing these events is in response to Stevens’s post asking me to 
explain why we needed to have new elections. 

 
Stevens’s charge should have been disqualified pursuant to Article 31, §3(a) of 

the Constitution because it does not identify the alleged false information we are 
accused of circulating.  The charge should also have been disqualified pursuant to 
Article 31, §3(c) of the Constitution.  The charge does not identify any violation of the 
Constitution.  Stevens asserted that we violated the UAW Ethical Practices Codes and 
the local union bylaws.  Neither of these documents are part of the codified portion of 
the UAW Constitution. 

 
After the trial was scheduled, the local union never provided us with any of the 

witness statements submitted as corroboration of Stevens’s charge.  We were never 
afforded the opportunity to cross examine any of Stevens’s witnesses or to challenge 
their statements.  This was a denial of due process.  When we finally saw the 
statements, it was clear that they did not corroborate Stevens’s charges.  The witness 
statements were not even about the actual charge.  The trial committee is not supposed 
to collect additional statements to supplement the charges under consideration. 

 
My statement about John Stevens’s criminal record was made in the context of a 

local union election appeal.  It was protected concerted activity.  Therefore, I should 
have been protected against reprisals based on that statement.  We only sought to 
protect the local union from violating federal law. 

 
B. Betsey Engel on behalf of the International Union, UAW: 

Action on the trial committee’s verdict has been held in abeyance pending the 
outcome of these proceedings.  Appellants have appealed the manner in which the trial 
was conducted and also the penalty ordered by the trial committee.  Those appeals 
have also been held in abeyance.  Our presentation today will be limited to the question 
whether John Stevens’s charges were proper or improper under Article 31, §3(a) 
through (e) of the Constitution.  

 
Jeff Brown and Andra Gatlin submitted an appeal to the IEB from a determination 

of the Local Union 3000 Executive Board rejecting a charge they had submitted against 
John Stevens.  In support of that appeal, Brown and Gatlin reported that the Michigan 
OTIS showed that John Stevens had been convicted of a violation of narcotics laws and 
was sentenced to two years in prison.  Jeff Brown repeated this claim in an appeal 
protesting the election of John Stevens as Sergeant-at-Arms.  Brown’s entire election 
protest, including this false claim, was read to the membership.  After the protest was 
read, there was a motion to accept it.  There was no second to the motion, so no further 
action was taken with respect to it.  There was no further discussion of Jeff Brown’s 
accusation at the meeting, but the people present were upset by the news.  There was 
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a discussion of Stevens’s eligibility to hold his office.  No one challenged the accuracy 
of the claim that Stevens had served time in prison. 

 
In its Notice of Hearing, the PRB asked us to explain why statements made in the 

context of an election protest were not protected by the freedom of speech guaranteed 
to members by the Ethical Practices Codes.  There is an exception to the right of free 
speech in the Ethical Practices Codes for criticism that vilifies another member of the 
union.  Appellants’ speech was not protected because it was defamatory.  Stevens 
never served any prison time.  The statement that he did was vilification within the 
meaning of the Ethical Practices Codes because it was made with a reckless disregard 
for the truth.  The OTIS report specifically indicates “none” under the heading “prison 
sentences.”  Furthermore, Jeff Brown had to know that John Stevens was not in prison 
for two years, because he was working in the plant.  Appellants continued pursuing their 
accusations against Stevens even after the local union took steps to address the 
eligibility issue.  The IEB determined that this constituted malice and deprived this 
speech of the protection described in the Ethical Practices Code. 

 
C. Rebuttal by Jeff Brown on behalf of appellants: 

We agree that the only role of the appellate body is to apply the tests of Article 
31, §3(a) through (e) of the Constitution, but applying those tests to the charges filed by 
John Stevens should have resulted in a determination that the charges were improper. 

 
I misread the OTIS posting on the internet.  I thought it indicated that there was a 

two-year prison sentence.  I did not know anything about John Stevens’s activities.  This 
is a very large plant and he works the night shift.  I simply misread the web page.  There 
was no malicious intent. 

 
DISCUSSION 

 
The charges submitted by John Stevens against Marie Clark, Jeff Brown, and 

Andra Gatlin are improper within the meaning of Article 31, §3(c) of the UAW 
Constitution because they do not describe a violation of the Constitution or conduct 
unbecoming a union member.  It was not conduct unbecoming a union member for 
Marie Clark to share the information she obtained about John Stevens with another 
UAW member and ultimately with the Chairperson of the election committee.  The 
information that Marie Clark forwarded to Darlene Harge was not misleading or 
malicious.  Clark provided the post from the MDOC website so that Stevens’s actual 
status could be verified.  She did not act out of any malicious intent but rather because 
she believed that the election committee should be aware of Stevens’ prior conviction in 
light of federal rules prohibiting certain persons from holding local union executive 
offices.  Clark had every right to raise this issue with the local union election committee.  
That was, in fact, the appropriate way to deal with this kind of information. 

 
Jeff Brown’s statement that Stevens had served a two-year prison term was 

incorrect.  He included this statement in his protest of the June 5 and 6, 2017 election.  
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Brown explained during oral argument that he misread the internet posting.  The 
International Union took the position that the error amounted to malicious vilification 
because Brown could easily have cleared up the misunderstanding.  

 
Based on oral presentations at our hearing, we agree that Brown acted 

carelessly and that his misrepresentation about the prison time caused needless pain to 
Stevens.  That said, the narrow limitations on freedom of expression described in the 
Ethical Practices Codes do not extend to carelessly erroneous utterances even where 
the correct information was within reach.  Such an understanding of the term vilification 
could have a chilling effect on speech. The right to free speech guaranteed by the UAW 
Constitution is a cherished one and not to be lightly abridged.  Furthermore, this was 
speech in the context of a local union election.  We have frequently observed that even 
comments that are viewed by their target as vilification are protected when they occur in 
the context of a political campaign.22 

 
The sequence of events giving rise to Stevens’s charge began during a 

membership meeting on March 19, 2017, where preparations were underway for the 
upcoming local union election.  Stevens’s charge was prompted to some extent by a 
charge Brown and Gatlin filed on April 20, 2017, asserting that Stevens did not 
adequately perform his role as Sergeant-at-Arms during the March meeting.  Brown’s 
and Gatlin’s charge was properly rejected by the Local Union 3000 Executive Board 
pursuant to Article 31, §3(c) of the Constitution.  A local union officer will not be 
answerable to charges for deficiencies in the performance of his or her office in the 
absence of an allegation of malice or ill will.23  Brown and Gatlin appealed the rejection 
of their charge to the IEB.  Brown and Gatlin reported the information Marie Clark had 
discovered on the Michigan OTIS website in the context of this appeal. 

 
The IEB reversed the Local Union 3000 Executive Board and ruled that the 

charge against Stevens based on the events at the March 31, 2017 membership 
meeting satisfied the requirements of Article 31, §3.  This ruling contradicts our well-
established precedent regarding claims that local union officers failed to perform their 
duties properly.  The essence of Brown’s and Gatlin’s charge is that Stevens did not 
handle the confrontation that occurred during the March membership meeting well.  
There is no allegation that Stevens acted with malice. 

 
To complicate matters, the IEB used its response to Gatlin’s and Brown’s Article 

31 appeal to address the question of Stevens’s eligibility to hold the office of Sergeant-
at-Arms.  The way the issue is raised in the report to the IEB suggests that this matter 

                                                 
22

 Dombeck v. Local Union 1645, UAW, PRB Case No. 821, 5 PRB 493 (1988); Moye v. Local Union 110, 
PRB Case No. 1206, 10 PRB 37 (1997); Pollard v. UAW Local Union 7777 Executive Board, PRB Case 
No. 1619, 14 PRB 179 (2009); and Jakstas v. Local Union 848, UAW, PRB Case No. 1715 (2015). 

23
 Comley v. Noble, 1 PRB 347 (1965); Libby v. Local Union 6000 Executive Board, UAW, 9 PRB 549 

(1998); Parker in the matter of David O. Zappa v. UAW Local Union 1248 Executive Board, PRB Case 
No. 1473, (2004), Collis v. International Executive Board, PRB Case No. 1517 (2005), and DaJuan 
Tolbert v. International Executive Board, PRB Case No. 1586, 13 PRB 732 (2008). 
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would be proper for resolution by a trial committee.24  These two issues should not have 
been combined.  Stevens’s ineligibility to run for office had no bearing on the propriety 
of Gatlin’s and Brown’s charges under Article 31, §3.  The eligibility of candidates is a 
matter for the local union election committee to address. 

 
During our hearing on this appeal, John Stevens explained that he brought his 

charges against appellants because copies of the information from the OTIS website 
began circulating in the plant.  As a result, he reported that some people formed the 
impression that he had served time in prison.  He believed the three appellants were 
responsible for the fact that this information became public, because they were the 
people who had provided it to the election committee.  He felt that they deliberately 
distorted and distributed it.  He was embarrassed that his son learned about this history 
as a result of photocopies of the OTIS website circulating in the plant.  While Stevens’s 
distress at this situation is understandable, Article 31 is not designed to address these 
kinds of ancillary personal disputes.25  Article 31 is intended to address serious behavior 
that undermines the union as an institution, such as subverting the Union in collective 
bargaining or providing information to management that endangers a union member’s 
employment.  

 
We had not had an opportunity to consider the merits of appellants’ appeal from 

the IEB’s determination that John Stevens’s charge against them was proper for a trial 
when we received correspondence from Jeff Brown indicating that the local union was 
going forward with the trial selection process.  Brown argued that conducting a trial on 
Stevens’s charge before the PRB had an opportunity to review their propriety amounted 
to a denial of due process.26  We encountered a similar argument in Alejandro v. Local 
Union 2244, PRB Case No. 1597, 13 PRB 849 (2008).  The appellant in Alejandro 
argued that Article 33, §3(f) of the Constitution confers specific jurisdiction on the PRB 
to consider and decide appeals from decisions of the IEB arising under Article 31 and 
that her right to that appellate review was being denied by the fact that the local union 
was proceeding to trial before the review process was complete.  The International 
President’s staff took the position that Article 33, §4(e) requires the trial to go forward 
before the appeal may be considered by the Public Review Board.  Article 33, §4(e) 
states: 

 

                                                 
24

 The hearing officer’s report to the IEB states: 

“On the other hand, we have determined that the charges filed against Local Union 
Sergeant-at-Arms John Stevens to be proper, under the same subsections (c), (d), and 
(e).  In this vein, the Local Union must take immediate steps to preclude a confirmed 
barred individual from serving in a prohibited capacity.” (Record, p. 123) 

25
 Herbert v. Local Union 732, PRB Case No. 340, 2 PRB 270 (1975); Tomczak v. Local Union 699, 

UAW, PRB Case No. 737, 5 PRB 119 (1989); Mayfield v. Local Union 862 Executive Board, PRB Case 
Nos, 1199 and 1200, 9 PRB 681 (1998), and Mckinzie v. UAW Local Union 276 Executive Board, PRB 
Case No. 1766 (2017). 

26
 Record, p. 202. 
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“COMPLIANCE PENDING APPEAL.  The decision of the lower tribunal, in 
all cases, must be complied with before an appeal can be accepted by the 
next tribunal in authority and shall remain in effect until reversed or 
modified.  The International President may, upon written application of an 
appellant, waive in whole or in part requirements of such compliance 
where unusual circumstances warrant it.” 

We did not rule on the jurisdictional issue raised in Alejandro because by the time her 
appeal came before us the trial was underway and the issue was moot. 
 

After a hearing on Alejandro’s appeal of the charges and the trial itself, we 
concluded that the trial had not been conducted in accordance with the procedures 
outlined in Article 31 of the Constitution and the Ethical Practices Codes.  Our decision 
in Alejandro reversed the verdict of the trial committee and the penalty imposed.  That 
decision was issued on October 28, 2008, approximately three years after the charges 
against the appellant were submitted.  By this time, the local union had been engaged in 
an ongoing series of bitter disputes over the processing of the charges, arrangements 
for a trial, and the trial itself.  This kind of drawn out controversy seemed to us to be 
detrimental to the local union as an institution and to the community of members it 
represented.  We, therefore, recommended that the International Union amend its 
Constitution to clarify the procedural issue so that the propriety of charges can be 
addressed before any trial takes place.  Our opinion states: 

 
“Some language in the Constitution appears to support the IEB’s position 
that charges must be submitted to a trial committee before the accused 
can appeal a ruling that the charges satisfy the requirements of Article 31, 
§3.  Our ruling on this appeal renders a final resolution of this issue 
unnecessary.  Nevertheless, it appears to us that the same considerations 
that caused the International Union to amend the Constitution in 1972 to 
allow a member to appeal to the IEB before a trial is conducted would 
apply to review by the PRB as well, particularly in light of the record 
presented by this appeal.  We suggest that the International Union 
consider amending Article 31, §3 at the next Constitutional Convention to 
clarify a member’s right in this regard.”27 

Although no such amendment was adopted, the situation at Local Union 3000 
surrounding the charges against appellants appeared to present the same kinds of 
concerns that caused us to make that recommendation.  Therefore, we asked the 
International Union to consider and respond to appellant Jeff Brown’s request to hold 
the trial in abeyance until the review process was complete.28  Even in the absence of 
an amendment to Article 31, the International President might have waived compliance 
with Article 33, §4(e) based on the practical considerations referred to in Alejandro.  The 

                                                 
27

 13 PRB 849, at 873-874. 

28
 Record, p. 201. 
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International President’s staff concluded that the delay caused by such a procedure was 
unwarranted.  The International Union apparently felt that the requirement of 
compliance pending appeal compelled them to allow the trial to go forward.29  Once that 
decision was made, there was no basis in the Constitution for us to overrule it.  We 
issued an Order denying appellants’ motion to stay the trial proceedings on December 
20, 2017.30  

 
The series of events set in motion by the referral of John Stevens’s charges 

against appellants to a trial committee are strikingly similar to the unfortunate history 
revealed by the record we considered in the Alejandro case.  We received the trial 
committee’s report of the trial on Stevens’s charges on February 15, 2018.  The trial 
materials consisted mainly of documents copied from our official record in this appeal.  
There are no records of the trial proceedings and no report of factual findings or 
conclusions reached by the trial committee members.  Trials based on personal 
quarrels are likely to produce exactly this result because there is no objective 
determination that can be investigated by the presentation of direct testimony and cross 
examination of witnesses.31  The UAW publication, A Guide for Local Union Trials, 
warns local unions that the trial procedures themselves will be discredited if members 
are permitted to use them to settle personal feuds and disagreements. 

 
The membership considered the trial committee’s report during a meeting on 

January 21, 2018.  Local 3000 Recording Secretary Montina Tillman sent the following 
notice to each of the appellants regarding the membership’s action on the trial 
committee’s report: 

 
“The membership of Local 3000 concludes that you have been found 
guilty with conduct unbecoming a union member and supports the 
recommendation of the trial committee which results to a suspension of 
ten (10) years of union membership in good standing.  This will include no 
participation of voting in any UAW elections, cannot hold office (elected or 
appointed positions) and not to be allowed to attend any UAW Local, 
Regional, Unit meetings or functions.” 

On February 14, 2018, we also received correspondence from Marie Clark 
renewing appellants’ objection to the propriety of the charges against them.  In addition 
to challenging the propriety of the charges, Clark argued that the trial conducted by 
Local Union 3000 violated most of the procedures described in Article 31, including the 
selection of trial committee members described in Article 31, §7.  Clark also reported 

                                                 
29

 Record, pp. 206-207. 

30
 Record, pp. 219-220. 

31
 See Leudecking v. UAW International Executive Board, PRB Case No. 1740 (2016) and Dunn v. Local 

Union 723, UAW, PRB Case No. 1755 (2016) for examples of cases where the local union clearly 
identified conduct it considered unbecoming a union member and conducted a proper trial to investigate 
and address the problem raised by a charge presented pursuant to Article 31.   
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that the charged parties were denied the opportunity to cross examine the witnesses in 
violation of the due process guaranteed by the Ethical Practices Codes.32  We cannot 
evaluate Clark’s complaint about deficiencies in the trial process on the basis of the 
materials provided to us by Local Union 3000 and the trial committee.  Furthermore, it is 
unnecessary for us to compile a sufficient record to address this issue in light of our 
determination that these charges should never have been referred to a trial committee 
in the first place. 

 
Article 31, §3 is supposed to give the International Union a tool to disqualify 

charges based on personal and political differences in order to spare local unions from 
becoming engaged in the type of futile and disruptive proceedings that have plagued 
Local Union 3000 during the past year.  As we observed in Pippenger and Frigo v. Local 
Union 1949 Executive Board, PRB Case No. 1764 (2017), Article 33 and Article 38 
provide adequate mechanisms for members to address complaints about the general 
administration of the local union or the conduct of local union elections.  These 
operations are not a proper subject for charges. 

 
Once again, we urge the International Union to adopt an amendment to Article 31 

to ensure that the appellate review process on the propriety of charges is completed 
before any trial on the charge takes place.  In light of the problems revealed by this 
record, we have provided the President’s staff with specific language designed to 
ensure that a union member facing a trial on charges submitted in accordance with 
Article 31 has access to a review of the propriety of those charges by the Public Review 
Board, if the member chooses to appeal the issue, before the case is referred to a trial 
committee. 

 
In the appeal of Marie Clark, Jeff Brown, and Andra Gatlin now before us, the 

verdict of the Local Union 3000 trial committee and the penalty imposed based on that 
verdict are reversed. 

 
It is so ordered.  

                                                 
32

 Record, pp. 299-300. 


